S.Ct. Case No.: S259216

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

YAZMIN BROWN, et al.

Appellants/Petitioners,

VS.

UNITED STATES OLYMPIC COMMITTEE

Defendant/Respondent.

After Decision by the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Div. Seven (B280550) (Superior Court of Los Angeles County, Hon. Michael P. Vicencia BC599321)

PETITIONERS' OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ESTEY & BOMBERGER LLP

Stephen J. Estey, Esq./163093 2869 India Street San Diego, CA 92103 (619) 295-0035 steve@estey-bomberger.com

TUREK LAW P.C.

Kenneth C. Turek, Esq./97908 603 N Highway 101, Suite C Solana Beach, CA 92075 (619) 234-9000 ken@kenturek.com

CORSIGLIA MCMAHON & ALLARD, LLP

ISSUE PRESENTED

On January 2, 2020, the Court granted review in this matter to consider the following question:

1. What is the appropriate test that minor plaintiffs must satisfy to establish a duty by defendants to protect them from the sexual abuse of third parties?

¹ All factual citations in this Opening Brief are to the official citation of the Court of Appeal's Opinion, following modification (*Brown v. USA Taekwondo* (2019) 40 Cal.App.5th 1077); and to the Appellant's Appendix, abbreviated as: ([volume] AA [page]).

II.

INTRODUCTION

In recent years, Defendant/Respondent, UNITED STATES OLMPIC COMMITTEE ("USOC"), has come under increasing scrutiny for its complicity in numerous sexual molestation cases involving USOC-sanctioned coaches and female swimmers, gymnasts, and soccer players. The underlying case is no different, and involves yet another USOC "National Governing Body" or "NGB," USA TAEKWONDO ("USAT"), through which a particular coach, Mark Gitelman ("Gitelman"), was allowed to repeatedly molest Petitioners, the minors he purported to coach to be Olympic athletes.

The issue now before this Court concerns the appropriate legal criteria to be applied in determining whether USOC owed a duty of care to those Olympic athletes to protect them from Gitelman's known sexual predation. In various contexts, two tests have evolved to answer that question: (1) the Restatement's "Special Relationship" test; and (2) the "Rowland factors" test, derived from this Court's seminal decision in Rowland v. Christian (1968) 69 Cal.2d 108. While some courts have employed both tests to determine the existence and scope of such a duty

of care, viewing them as independent, alternative bases on which such a duty could be established (see, e.g., Nally v. Grace Community Church (1988) 47 Cal.3d 278, 293; Juarez v. Boy Scouts of America, Inc. (2000) 81 Cal.App.4th 377, 400-411; Doe 1 v. City of Murrieta (2002) 102 Cal.App.4th 899, 913-918), other courts have viewed the Rowland factors test only as a subsidiary mechanism to limit or qualify a duty if it is first established under the Restatement's Special Relationship test (see, e.g., Doe v. United States Youth Soccer Assn., Inc. (2017) 8 Cal.App.5th 1118, 1129-1139; Doe v. Superior Court (2015) 237 Cal.App.4th 239, 244-248).

In the Court's most recent consideration of that issue in Regents of University of California v. Superior Court (2018) 4 Cal.5th 607, 620-634, it found that a special relationship existed between a university and a student under the Restatement's Special Relationship test, and then further concluded that an examination of the Rowland factors did not require eliminating or otherwise limiting that special relationship duty. The Court in Regents, however, did not address the varying manner by which it, and the Courts of Appeal, have applied those two tests in the past, and whether either or both must be satisfied to establish a duty of care. Yet on the heels of Regents, at least one Court of Appeal cited the

Regents decision as requiring that plaintiffs must satisfy both the Special Relationship test and the Rowland factors test before such a duty of care can be established. (Barenborg v. Sigma Alpha Epsilon Fraternity (2019) 33 Cal.App.5th 70, 77.) Although this Court did not make that finding in Regents – and the Barenborg court's citation to Regents for that proposition is not supported by the cited page in the Regents decision – the confusion and conflict about which tests must be applied in similar circumstances persists.

The Court of Appeal's Opinion in this case throws that conflict into sharp relief. While the Court of Appeal applied the Special Relationship test and the Rowland factors test to conclude that USAT owed Petitioners a duty of care to protect them from the sexual abuse of their coach, Gitelman, it cited Barenborg for the proposition that Petitioners were required to satisfy both of those tests to establish that duty of care. (Brown, supra, 40 Cal.App.5th at 1092.) When it subsequently applied that same analysis to USOC, the Court of Appeal observed that because it first concluded that no special relationship existed between USOC and Petitioners under the Restatement's Special Relationship test, no duty of care could otherwise be established under the Rowland factors test. (Id.

at 1103.) In doing so, the Court of Appeal viewed the *Rowland* factors test as merely a *subsidiary qualifying test* which need only be examined if the Restatement's Special Relationship test is first satisfied, and thereby refused to apply the *Rowland* factors test to USOC at all. (*Ibid.*) Consequently, the Court of Appeal applied *two different legal criteria to USAT and USOC*, and perhaps not surprisingly, reached two different results concerning the duties each owed to protect the Petitioners from sexual abuse.

Petitioners now ask this Court to examine the separate underpinnings of the Restatement's Special Relationship test and the common law Rowland factors test, and to clarify that they represent independent, alternative bases on which to establish a duty of care to protect minor plaintiffs from sexual abuse by third parties. To be sure, victims of sexual abuse, like the minor Petitioners here, should not be required to clear unnecessary legal hurdles to properly plead and prove their claims, but rather should be able to proceed if they can satisfy either the Special Relationship or the Rowland factors tests, as both this Court and the Courts of Appeal have permitted in the past.

Petitioners then requests this Court to correctly apply both the Special Relationship test and the Rowland factors test to USOC, and in so doing, to conclude under either test that USOC owed Petitioners a cognizable duty of care and that their claims in the lower court can therefore proceed against both USAT and USOC.

III.

RELEVANT FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A. Background.

USOC is the national organizing entity of all Olympic sports in the United States. (1 AA 40.)² In that capacity, USOC has the power and ability to control the actions of its 49 affiliate NGBs (including USAT) in the operation of their respective businesses and enterprises. In particular, in accordance with the mandates of the Ted Stevens Amateur Sports Act (36 U.S.C. § 220501, et seq.), USOC exclusively certifies organizations to be the NGB of all summer and winter Olympic Sports in

² Because this case came to the Court of Appeal – and comes to this Court now – after the trial court sustained USOC's demurrer without leave to amend, this Court admits as true all material facts properly pled in Petitioners' operative First Amended Complaint ("FAC"). (Stearn v. County of San Bernardino (2009) 170 Cal.App.4th 434, 439-440.)

the United States. (*Ibid*.) USOC also can take disciplinary actions against the NGBs it certifies, including decertifying an NGB, which terminates that NGB's relationship with the Olympic movement in the United States. (*Ibid*.) USOC can also place an NGB on probation and assume some or all of the governance functions of an NGB, as well as appoint an advisory board to oversee an NGB. (*Ibid*.)³

B. <u>History and Notice of Sexual Predation in USOC's NGBs.</u>

As Petitioners alleged in their operative FAC, since at least the 1980s, USOC has had actual knowledge that numerous minor female athletes were raped at the Olympic Training Centers in Marquette, Michigan; Colorado Springs, Colorado; and Lake Placid, New York. (1 AA 41.) Moreover, that same misconduct has also continued abroad, with USAT's delegation being kicked out of their rented house in Barcelona, Spain during the 1992 Summer Olympic Games because the Spanish landlord walked in on the National team coach, a middle-aged man, having sex with a young female Olympian. (*Ibid.*) USOC had actual knowledge of that Barcelona eviction of the USAT delegation. (*Ibid.*)

 $^{^3}$ As Petitioners alleged in their FAC, USOC placed USAT on probation from 2011 to 2013. (1 AA 40-42.)

Sexual molestation of minor athletes in USOC's certified NGBs by credentialed coaches was so rampant that USOC required all NGBs to have specific insurance coverage to cover that sexual abuse. (1 AA 41.) NGBs that did not meet that requirement had their access to the Olympic Training Centers restricted or completely denied by USOC. (*Ibid.*) By 1999, all NGBs had purchased the USOC required sexual abuse insurance coverage except United States Swimming. (*Ibid.*)

Given the pervasive nature of that history of molestations, in 2010, USOC appointed a task force to study sexual abuse of minor athletes by adult coaches in Olympic Sports. (1 AA 41.) That task force mandated that all NGBs adopt a "Safe Sport Program" to protect athletes from sexual abuse. As a result, USOC required that each of its NGBs implement a USOC-approved Safe Sport program by 2013. (1 AA 42.) Further, between 2013 and 2016, USOC required that each NGB contribute money towards the funding of a "US Center for Safe Sport" ("Safe Sport Center") that would purportedly handle allegations of sexual abuse of athletes in Olympic Sports. (*Ibid.*)

Despite those USOC requirements, Petitioners alleged that USAT failed to implement a USOC-approved Safe Sport Program by 2013. As

a result of that failure, coupled with "numerous instances of self-dealing among [USAT] board members," USOC placed USAT on probation. (1 AA 40-42.) However, sometime after USAT eventually adopted a "Code of Ethics" prohibiting sexual relationships between coaches and athletes (regardless of the age of the athlete), which ostensibly complied with the requirements of USOC's Safe Sport Program, USOC terminated USAT's probation status. (1 AA 42.)

C. <u>Gitelman's Sexual Abuse of Petitioners.</u>

Beginning in 2007 and continuing until his arrest in Los Angeles, California in August 2014, Gitelman sexually abused and repeatedly molested Petitioners. (1 AA 44.) Petitioners further alleged that Gitelman similarly molested numerous other female athletes during that same time period. (*Ibid.*) Those molestations and abuse began at events sponsored and promoted by USAT and USOC, both in California and throughout the country. (*Ibid.*)

During the period of 2007 through his arrest in 2014, Gitelman did not attempt to hide his relationships with Petitioners. Instead, he openly carried on inappropriate relationships with each Petitioner, and those relationships with each Petitioner were "common knowledge" throughout the sport of taekwondo. (1 AA 44.) Given the brazen openness of Gitelman's actions directed at Petitioners – behaviors displayed in public and at competitions USAT and USOC sanctioned and sponsored – Petitioners further alleged that USAT and USOC knew, or in the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known, that Gitelman was violating their Code of Ethics and was carrying on improper sexual relationships with Petitioners. (*Ibid.*)

Yet at that time, USAT and USOC amazingly did not have any policies in place prohibiting coaches from traveling alone to competitions with minor athletes, and did not have policies prohibiting coaches from staying in hotel rooms with minor athletes. (*Ibid.*) This was so despite the fact that at least by 2007, sexual abuse of minors by figures of authority (like priests, coaches, and scout leaders) was a widely known risk in youth organizations. Indeed, Petitioners alleged that USAT and USOC were, in fact, aware that female taekwondo athletes, and Olympic level athletes in general, were frequently victims of sexual molestation by their coaches, yet did nothing to protect those athletes from such abuse, failing to have any policies, procedures, or oversight for ensuring

that minor female athletes, including Petitioners, were not easy victims of molestation by their coaches. (1 AA 45.)

For its part, by early 2014, USOC had actual knowledge that Gitelman was still coaching despite the recommendation of USAT's Ethics Committee that his membership be terminated. (1 AA 43-44.) Specifically, in March of 2014, USOC Board members circulated an email to three USOC executives about Gitelman, demanding action, especially since USAT's President refused to take action on the suspension of Gitelman recommended by its Ethics Committee. But instead of acting on that e-mail and USAT's Ethic's Panel recommendation, USOC did nothing, allowing Gitelman to continue coaching for another year alongside Petitioners and other minor, female athletes. (1 AA 42-45.)

It was not until September 2015, when Gitelman was convicted of sexually abusing Petitioners, that USAT banned him from coaching. In the interim, USOC – the organization entrusted by Congress under federal law to oversee Olympic sports in America and the activities of all of its NGBs – stood idle. (1 AA 44.)

D. <u>Proceedings in the Trial Court.</u>

Petitioners filed their original action against Gitelman, USOC, USAT, and other defendants on October 29, 2015. (1 AA 6-31.) USOC and USAT responded by bringing demurrers to that original Complaint, which were sustained with leave to amend by the trial court. (1 AA 32-36.)

Petitioners then filed their operative FAC. (1 AA 37-62.) That amended pleading was again met with a similar onslaught of challenges by USOC and USAT, with both again filing demurrers and motions to strike. (1 AA 63-158.) Petitioners opposed those motions (1 AA 159-198), and both USOC and USAT replied (1 AA 199-232). Ultimately, the trial court granted both USOC's and USAT's demurrers to all causes of action Petitioners' alleged against them – this time *without* any further leave to amend – denying their companion motions to strike as moot. (1 AA 233-243.) After judgment of dismissals were entered in favor of both USOC and USAT (1 AA 254-274), Petitioners' timely appeal then followed (1 AA 275-278.)

E. The Court of Appeal's Opinion.

As previewed above, the Court of Appeal reversed the lower court's Judgment as to USAT only, affirming it as to USOC.

Specifically, the Court of Appeal applied the Special Relationship test to USAT, concluding that Petitioners had properly pled that USAT owed a special relationship to protect them from the years of sexual abuse they suffered at the hands of USAT's certified coach, Gitelman. (*Brown, supra,* 40 Cal.App.5th at 1094-1095.) Upon doing so, the Court of Appeal concluded that relationship existed because, among other things, "USAT was in a unique position to protect youth athletes against the risk of sexual abuse by their coaches." (*Ibid.*)

The Court of Appeal then applied the *Rowland* factors test to USAT – not as an independent basis to establish a duty of care – but to determine whether the special relationship duty it previously found under the Restatement test needed to be limited or altogether eliminated. (*Id.* at 1095-1101.) Nevertheless, even utilizing the *Rowland* factors test in that subsidiary manner and examining each element of that multifactor test, the Court of Appeal ultimately (and correctly) concluded that "the *Rowland* factors support recognition of USAT's duty to use

reasonable care to protect taekwondo youth athletes from foreseeable sexual abuse by their coaches." (*Ibid.*) In short, after applying both the Restatement's Special Relationship test and the *Rowland* factors test, the Court of Appeal ultimately concluded that Petitioners claims could proceed against USAT. (*Ibid.*)

With respect to USOC, the Court of Appeal again first employed the Restatement's Special Relationship test but reached a different conclusion, finding that USOC did not owe a special relationship to Petitioners under that particular test. (Id. at 1101-1103.) Notably, in doing so the Court of Appeal attempted to distinguish its analysis from that undertaken by other Courts of Appeal which reached a contrary result after they applied both the Special Relationship test and the Rowland factors test in determining the existence of a duty of care. (See ibid. [discussing Juarez, supra, 81 Cal.App.4th 377; Doe 1 v. City of Murrieta, supra, 102 Cal.App.4th 899; and Conti v. Watchtower Bible & Tract Society of New York (2015) 235 Cal.App.4th 1214].) Yet even acknowledging the approach taken by the Courts of Appeal in those other cases, the Court of Appeal in this case not only found that no special relationship existed between USOC and Petitioners under the

Restatement, but on that same basis then further declined to apply the *Rowland* factors test at all to USOC. (*Ibid*. ["Because USOC does not have a special relationship with Gitelman or plaintiffs, it does not have a duty to protect plaintiffs. Therefore, we do not consider the *Rowland* factors as to USOC"].) After reaching that conclusion and refusing to apply the *Rowland* factors test to USOC, the Court of Appeal affirmed the lower court's Judgment in favor of USOC. (*Id*. at 1109.)

IV.

DISCUSSION

A. The Nature of the Conflict Now Before This Court.

1. Decisions Treating the Restatement's Special Relationship Test and the *Rowland* Factors Test as Independent Paths to Find a Duty of Care.

As previewed above, this Court and the Courts of Appeal have developed widely varying approaches for determining whether a duty of care to protect against the sexual abuse of third parties can be established. One line of authority looks to both the Special Relationship test and the Rowland factors test as independent bases on which such a duty of care can be established, and therefore examines both alternative

theories to properly conduct that analysis. This Court's early decision in Nally, supra, 47 Cal.3d at 293, analyzed both the special relationship doctrine and the *Rowland* factors test in deciding whether church pastors had a duty to prevent a foreseeable suicide, proceeding with that Rowland analysis even after finding no special relationship. (See also Davidson v. City of Westminster (1982) 32 Cal.3d 197, 203-209 [decided by this Court before Nally, in which the Court also applied both the Special Relationship test and the Rowland factors to analyze the existence of a duty].) Subsequently, in *Juarez*, supra, 81 Cal.App.4th at 400-411, the First District applied the Rowland factors test first to find a duty of care owed by the Boy Scouts of America national organization to a scout molested by his Scout Master, and then only reluctantly applied the Special Relationship test as "an alternative analysis" to further support its prior duty finding under Rowland. In doing so, Juarez questioned the utility of the Restatement's Special Relationship test, noting how it was not relying on that test "as the analytical underpinning for our conclusion that a duty of care was owed by the Scouts to Juarez." (Juarez, supra, 81 Cal.App.4th at 410-411.) Nevertheless, although Juarez found a duty of care to exist on the Rowland factors test alone, it

concluded that the Special Relationship test could alternatively support its finding of a duty because of the compelling nature of the "special relationship" between child participants and youth organizations. (*Id.* at 411 [agreeing with the observation that "[t]he mission of youth organizations to educate children, the naivete of children, and the insidious tactics employed by child molesters dictate that the law recognize a special relationship between youth organizations and the members such that the youth organizations are required to exercise reasonable care to protect their members from the foreseeable conduct of third persons"].)

Other cases followed the lead of *Nally* and *Juarez* in viewing the Special Relationship test and the *Rowland* factors tests as *independent* tests which should both be analyzed to determine if either established a duty of care. (See, e.g., Doe 1 v. City of Murrieta, supra, 102 Cal.App.4th at 913-918 [like Juarez, first using the Rowland factors test to find a duty of care, and then further supporting that conclusion through the alternative Special Relationship test]; Conti, supra, 235 Cal.App.4th 1227-1231 [applying both the Special Relationship test and the Rowland factors test to find that church elders had no duty to warn their

congregation about one member's past child sexual abuse]; University of Southern California v. Superior Court (2018) 30 Cal.App.5th 429, 447-448, 451-455 [considering both the Special Relationship test and the Rowland factors tests to conclude that a university owed no duty of care to protect an attendee at an off-campus fraternity party from a dangerous condition at that party].)

2. Decisions Treating the *Rowland* Factors Test as Subsidiary to a Predicate Finding of Duty Under the Restatement's Special Relationship Test.

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