# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

#### YAZMIN BROWN et al., Plaintiffs and Appellants,

v.

USA TAEKWONDO et al., Defendants and Respondents.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION SEVEN CASE NO. B280550

# **ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

HORVITZ & LEVY LLP MITCHELL C. TILNER (BAR NO. 93023) STEVEN S. FLEISCHMAN (BAR NO. 169990) \*YEN-SHYANG TSENG (BAR NO. 282349) **3601 WEST OLIVE AVENUE, 8TH FLOOR** BURBANK, CALIFORNIA 91505-4681 (818) 995-0800 · FAX: (844) 497-6592 mtilner@horvitzlevy.com sfleischman@horvitzlevy.com ytseng@horvitzlevy.com

#### KJAR, MCKENNA & STOCKALPER, LLP

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

#### LEGAL ARGUMENT

- I. This Court has long applied different analytical frameworks to lawsuits alleging misfeasance and lawsuits alleging nonfeasance. Plaintiffs offer no reason to depart from these established frameworks.
  - A. In cases involving misfeasance, people generally owe a duty under Civil Code section 1714. Courts analyze the *Rowland* factors to examine the scope of the duty and whether public policy justifies an exception in specific cases.

In 1872, the Legislature enacted Civil Code section 1714, subdivision (a), which provides that "[e]veryone is responsible, not

only for the result of his or her willful acts, but also for an injury occasioned to another by his or her want of ordinary care or skill in the management of his or her property or person." This Court has consistently applied this general duty rule. (See, e.g., Southern California Gas Leak Cases (2019) 7 Cal.5th 391, 398 (Southern California Gas Leak Cases) ["In California, the 'general rule' is that people owe a duty of care to avoid causing harm to others and that they are thus usually liable for injuries their negligence inflicts"]; Regents of University of California v. Superior Court (2018) 4 Cal.5th 607, 619 (Regents) ["In general, each person has a duty to act with reasonable care under the circumstances"]; Smith v. Whittier (1892) 95 Cal. 279, 291 [applying section 1714].)

This Court departs from the general duty rule "only where public policy clearly supports (or a statutory provision establishes) an exception." (*T.H. v. Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corp.* (2017) 4 Cal.5th 145, 164 (*T.H.*); see *Rowland*, *supra*, 69 Cal.2d at p. 112 ["in the absence of statutory provision declaring an exception to the fundamental principle enunciated by section 1714 of the Civil Code, no such exception should be made unless clearly supported by public policy"].)<sup>4</sup> Thus, when a plaintiff alleges a defendant's actions injured the plaintiff, the law "presume[s] the defendant owed the plaintiff a duty of care and then ask[s] whether the circumstances 'justify a departure' from that usual presumption." (*Southern California Gas Leak Cases, supra*, 7 Cal.5th at p. 398;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Rowland was superseded by statute on another ground as stated in Calvillo-Silva v. Home Grocery (1998) 19 Cal.4th 714, 722.

see *Cabral v. Ralphs Grocery Co.* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 764, 771 (*Cabral*).) To determine whether public policy justifies a departure from the usual presumption of duty, the Court balances the *Rowland* factors.<sup>5</sup> (See *Rowland*, at pp. 112-113.)

In the 52 years since this Court decided *Rowland*, it has not used the *Rowland* factors to create a duty when none otherwise exists. To the contrary, in two recent cases, this Court stated precisely the opposite—that it relies on the *Rowland* factors not to determine whether to create a duty, but to determine whether to create an exception to an existing duty. (*Kesner v. Superior Court* (2016) 1 Cal.5th 1132, 1143 (*Kesner*) ["we rely on [the *Rowland*] factors not to determine 'whether a *new duty* should be created, but whether an *exception* to Civil Code section 1714 . . . should be created"]; *Cabral, supra*, 51 Cal.4th at p. 783 [same].)

Many of this Court's opinions highlight its framework of first determining whether a duty exists and then, if a duty exists, applying the *Rowland* factors to determine the scope of the duty and whether to find an exception. (See *Southern California Gas Leak Cases, supra*, 7 Cal.5th at p. 398 ["we presume the defendant owed the plaintiff a duty of care and then ask whether the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The *Rowland* factors are "the foreseeability of harm to the plaintiff, the degree of certainty that the plaintiff suffered injury, the closeness of the connection between the defendant's conduct and the injury suffered, the moral blame attached to the defendant's conduct, the policy of preventing future harm, the extent of the burden to the defendant and consequences to the community of imposing a duty to exercise care with resulting liability for breach, and the availability, cost, and prevalence of insurance for the risk involved." (*Rowland, supra*, 69 Cal.2d at p. 113.)

circumstances 'justify the departure' from that usual presumption" by applying the *Rowland* factors]; *Regents*, *supra*, 4 Cal.5th at pp. 628-629 [the Rowland factors "may, on balance, justify excusing or limiting a defendant's duty of care"]; T.H., supra, 4 Cal.5th at pp. 163-174 [applying Rowland factors to determine whether to create exception to drug manufacturer's duty to warn]; Vasilenko v. Grace Family Church (2017) 3 Cal.5th 1077, 1083 [the *Rowland* factors analyze "whether policy considerations weigh in favor of such an exception" to a duty]; *Kesner*, *supra*, 1 Cal.5th at p. 1143 [same]; Cabral, supra, 51 Cal.4th at p. 771 ["In the *Rowland* decision, this court identified several considerations that, when balanced together, may justify a departure from the fundamental principle embodied in Civil Code section 1714"]; John B. v. Superior Court (2006) 38 Cal.4th 1177, 1191-1193 [finding general duty existed under Civil Code section 1714 and that *Rowland* analysis "does not justify a departure from the general rule"]; Sprecher v. Adamson Companies (1981) 30 Cal.3d 358, 363 ["This court has held that it will not depart from the fundamental concept that a person is liable for injuries caused 'by his want of ordinary care . . . in the management of his property or person . . .' [citation] except when such a departure is 'clearly supported by public policy'"].)

B. In cases such as this one involving nonfeasance, people generally have no duty to protect others from a third party unless an exception applies. Courts analyze the *Rowland* factors only if an exception applies and a duty exists.

A corollary to the general duty rule stated in Civil Code section 1714 is the general rule that " 'one owes no duty to control the conduct of another, nor to warn those endangered by such conduct." (Regents, supra, 4 Cal.5th at p. 619; see Morris v. De La Torre (2005) 36 Cal.4th 260, 269 (Morris) ["As a general matter there is no duty to act to protect others from the conduct of third parties"]; Delgado v. Trax Bar & Grill (2005) 36 Cal.4th 224, 235 (Delgado) [same]; Nally v. Grace Community Church (1988) 47 Cal.3d 278, 293 (*Nally*) ["Under traditional tort law principles, one is ordinarily not liable for the actions of another and is under no duty to protect another from harm, in the absence of a special relationship of custody or control"]; Peterson v. San Francisco Community College Dist. (1984) 36 Cal.3d 799, 806 (Peterson) ["As a general rule one has no duty to control the conduct of another, and no duty to warn those who may be endangered by such conduct"]; Davidson v. City of Westminster (1982) 32 Cal.3d 197, 203 (Davidson) [same]; Thompson v. County of Alameda (1980) 27 Cal.3d 741, 751-752 (Thompson) [recognizing the "general rule that one owes no duty to control the conduct of another"]; Tarasoff v. Regents of University of California (1976) 17 Cal.3d 425, 435 (*Tarasoff*) ["under the common law, as a general rule, one person owed no duty to control the conduct of another [citations], nor to warn those endangered by such conduct" (fn. omitted)], superseded by statute as stated in Regents of University of California v.

Superior Court (2018) 29 Cal.App.5th 890, 902-903; Richards v. Stanley (1954) 43 Cal.2d 60, 65 (Richards) ["Ordinarily . . . there is no duty to control the conduct of a third person so as to prevent him from causing harm to another"].)

One exception to the general no-duty rule is the special relationship doctrine at issue here. (See *Regents*, *supra*, 4 Cal.5th at p. 627 ["The 'special relationship' doctrine is an exception to [the] general rule" that there is "no duty to protect others from the conduct of third parties"]; Morris, supra, 36 Cal.4th at p. 269 ["One exception to [the] general [no-duty] rule is found in the 'special relationship' doctrine"]; Delgado, supra, 36 Cal.4th at p. 235 ["courts have recognized exceptions to the general no-duty-toprotect rule, one of which [is] the 'special relationship' doctrine"]; Nally, supra, 47 Cal.3d at p. 293 ["Under traditional tort law principles, one is ordinarily not liable for the actions of another and is under no duty to protect another from harm, in the absence of a special relationship of custody or control"]; see also *Peterson*, supra, 36 Cal.3d at p. 806 [recognizing special relationship] exception to general no-duty rule]; *Davidson*, *supra*, 32 Cal.3d at p. 203 [same]; *Thompson*, *supra*, 27 Cal.3d at pp. 751-752 [same]; Tarasoff, supra, 17 Cal.3d at p. 435 ["when the avoidance of foreseeable harm requires a defendant to control the conduct of another person, or to warn of such conduct, the common law has traditionally imposed liability only if the defendant bears some special relationship to the dangerous person or to the potential victim"]; Richards, supra, 43 Cal.2d at p. 65 [noting general noduty rule applies "in the absence of a special relationship between

the parties"].) Under the special relationship doctrine, a defendant might have a duty to protect a plaintiff from a third party's conduct if the defendant has a special relationship with the plaintiff or with the third party. (See pp. 43-46, *post*.)

Many leading treatises recognize the well-settled no-duty rule and the special relationship doctrine. (See, e.g., Dobbs et al., Dobbs Law of Torts (2d ed. 2011) §§ 251 ["Where the defendant does not create or continue a risk of harm, the general rule, subject to certain qualifications, is that he does not owe an affirmative duty to protect, aid, or rescue the plaintiff"], 413 [discussing general "[n]o duty to control others" rule], 415-424 [discussing special relationships]; 6 Witkin, Summary of Cal. Law (11th ed. 2020) Torts, § 1177 ["A person who has not created a peril is ordinarily not liable in tort merely for failure to take affirmative action to assist or protect another, no matter how great the danger in which the other is placed, or how easily he or she could be rescued, unless there is some relationship between them that gives rise to a duty to act"]; Haning et al., Cal. Practice Guide: Personal Injury (The Rutter Group 2019) ¶ 2:1895 ["Generally, one who has not created a peril has no duty to affirmatively act so as to prevent harm to third persons. . . . [¶] However, the law *does* impose a legal duty to affirmatively act (to protect someone else from danger or to control the conduct of a third person) if there is a 'special *relationship*' between defendant and the person in danger or the third person creating the danger."].)<sup>6</sup>

Despite the long history of the general no-duty rule and the special relationship exception in California law, plaintiffs repeatedly refer to this analysis as the "Restatement's 'Special Relationship' test," suggesting both that these principles originated from the Restatement of Torts and that this Court therefore should give them less weight. (See OBOM 10-13, 21-23, 26-27, 31-33, 35, 37.) Not so. While the Restatement offers a clear formulation, this Court recognized the general no-duty rule long before the first edition of the Restatement of Torts was published in 1934. (E.g., Kennedy v. Chase (1898) 119 Cal. 637, 640-641 [employer had no duty to protect employee from injury sustained while on "private excursions" off-premises]; Toomey v. Southern Pac. R. Co. (1890) 86 Cal. 374, 381 [" 'For mere omissions,' . . . 'a man is not, generally speaking, held answerable. Not that the consequences or the moral gravity of an omission are necessarily less; . . . but, unless he is under some specific duty of action, his omission will not in any case be either an offense or a civil

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The general no-duty rule and special relationship exception have achieved such widespread adoption that the Restatement has included the principles in all three editions, from 1934 to 2012. (See Rest., Torts, § 315 & com. b; Rest.2d Torts, § 315; Rest.3d Torts, Liability for Physical and Emotional Harm, § 37 & coms. a & b.) Other treatises surveying the national landscape have likewise recognized the same principles. (See, e.g., Annot., Private Person's Duty and Liability for Failure to Protect Another Against Criminal Attack by Third Person (1966) 10 A.L.R.3d 619.) These sources show that nearly all jurisdictions in this country follow a general no-duty rule and special relationship doctrine.

wrong.'"]; see Lane v. Bing (1927) 202 Cal. 590, 592; Perry v. Simeone (1925) 197 Cal. 132, 136, superseded by statute on another ground as stated in Strandt v. Cannon (1938) 29 Cal.App.2d 509, 515; Buelke v. Levenstadt (1923) 190 Cal. 684, 689; see also Rest., Torts (1934) § 315.)

In short, when a plaintiff sues a defendant for the acts of a third party, this Court begins its analysis with the general no-duty rule and then determines whether a special relationship creates a duty. If no special relationship exists, this Court has no need to analyze the *Rowland* factors but sometimes does so to reinforce its conclusion that no duty should exist. (See, e.g., *Nally, supra*, 47 Cal.3d at pp. 296-300 [finding no special relationship and analyzing the *Rowland* factors to "explain further why" this Court should not impose a duty]; *Davidson, supra*, 32 Cal.3d at pp. 203-209 [no analysis of *Rowland* factors after finding no special relationship]; *Thompson, supra*, 27 Cal.3d at pp. 750-754 [no consideration of *Rowland* factors after finding no special relationship].)

Only if a special relationship exists does this Court then analyze the *Rowland* factors to determine the scope of the duty and whether to recognize an exception to the duty. (See, e.g., *C.A. v. William S. Hart Union High School Dist.* (2012) 53 Cal.4th 861, 870, 877-878 (*C.A.*) [finding special relationship between school district's administrators and their students and analyzing the *Rowland* factors to determine limits of duty]; *Morris, supra*, 36 Cal.4th at pp. 276-278 [reviewing *Rowland* factors after finding special relationship and concluding *Rowland* factors support a duty]; *Delgado*, *supra*, 36 Cal.4th at p. 244-245 [reviewing *Rowland* factors after finding special relationship to examine scope of duty]; *Burgess v. Superior Court* (1992) 2 Cal.4th 1064, 1079-1080 [finding special relationship between physician and patient and analyzing *Rowland* factors to determine whether policy justifies exception].)

Regents, supra, 4 Cal.5th 607 represents the most recent case in which this Court applied this analytical framework. There, a student alleged her university and its employees owed her a duty to protect her from another student who stabbed her during a chemistry lab. (Id. at pp. 613-617.) This Court recognized that "there is generally no duty to protect others from the conduct of third parties," and that "[t]he 'special relationship' doctrine is an exception to this general rule." (Id. at p. 627.) It found that universities have a special relationship with their students who are "engaged in activities that are part of the school's curriculum or closely related to its delivery of educational services." (Id. at pp. 624-625.) This special relationship supported universities' "duty to use reasonable care to protect their students from foreseeable acts of violence in the classroom or during curricular activities." (*Id.* at pp. 627-628.)

Only *after* finding a special relationship did this Court apply the *Rowland* factors to "'determin[e] whether to create an exception to the general duty to exercise reasonable care.'" (*Regents*, *supra*, 4 Cal.5th at p. 629.) It concluded the *Rowland* factors did not "persuade [it] to depart from [its] decision to

25

recognize a tort duty arising from the special relationship between colleges and their enrolled students." (*Id.* at pp. 633-634.)

In their opening brief, plaintiffs correctly identify the framework this Court applied in *Regents*. (OBOM 21-23, 27-28.) But despite the clarity of this Court's opinion, plaintiffs create confusion where none exists by contending that this Court "appeared to view [the two tests] as complementary, alternative analytical paths for reaching the same conclusion" (OBOM 28), and that this Court left unclear the interplay between the special relationship test and the *Rowland* factors (OBOM 28-29).

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